2012 No. 1821

HOUSING, ENGLAND

The Housing (Right to Manage) (England) Regulations 2012

Made----10th July 2012Laid before Parliament13th July 2012Coming into force-6th August 2012

CONTENTS

PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

1.	Citation, commencement and application	2
2.	Revocation of the Housing (Right to Manage) Regulations 2008	2
3.	Interpretation	2
4.	Definition and general duties of tenant management organisations	3
5.	Agreement for extension of time	4
6.	Security of ballot	4
7.	Written communications	4
8.	Disputes between authorities and TMOs	4
	PART 2	
	INITIATING THE PROCESS STAGE	
9.	Proposal notices	4
10.	Consultation and membership requirements relevant to proposal notices	5
11.	Acceptance and refusal of proposal notices	5
12.	Authority support following proposal notice	6
	PART 3	
	DEVELOPMENT STAGE	
13.	Appointment of approved assessor to assess competence of TMO	6
14.	Offer Notice	7
15.	Offer to tenants	7

PART 4 IMPLEMENTATION STAGE

16.	Duty to enter into TMO agreement	7
17.	Incorporation of TMO	8
	DART 5	
	PART 5	
	OTHER PROVISIONS RELATING TO TMOS	
18.	Guidance by Secretary of State	8
19.	Break clause in other housing management agreements	8
20.	Participation by authority in TMOs	9
21.	Agreements entered into voluntarily	9
	PART 6	
	TRANSITIONAL AND SAVING PROVISIONS	
22.	General transitional provision	9
23.	Proposal notices served under the 2008 Regulations	9
24.	Local authority support following proposal notice	9
25.	Subsequent procedure in relation to regulation 9 notices	10

The Secretary of State in exercise of the powers conferred by sections 27(4) and (17) and 27AB of the Housing Act 1985(a), makes the following Regulations:

PART 1

GENERAL PROVISIONS

Citation, commencement and application

- 1.—(1) These Regulations may be cited as the Housing (Right to Manage) (England) Regulations 2012 and shall come into force on 6th August 2012.
 - (2) These Regulations apply in relation to houses and authorities in England only.

Revocation of the Housing (Right to Manage) Regulations 2008

2. Subject to Part 6 of these Regulations, the Housing (Right to Manage) (England) Regulations 2008(b) are revoked.

Interpretation

3. In these Regulations—

"the 2008 Regulations" means the Housing (Right to Manage)(England) Regulations 2008;

"acceptance date" means the date on which a tenant management organisation receives a notice under regulation 11(2)(a) that an authority has accepted its proposal notice;

⁽a) 1985 c.68. Section 27 was substituted by S.I.2003/940, article 2 and amended by S.I. 2010/844. Section 27AB was inserted by the Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban Development Act 1993 (c.28) section 132(1) and amended by the Housing Act 1996 (c.52) section 222 and Schedule 18, paragraph 3(5); the Local Government Act 2003 (c.26) section 127(2) and Schedule 8, Part 1; S.I.1997/74 article 2 and Schedule paragraph 3(c) and the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 (c.17) section 195 and S.I. 2010/844.

⁽b) S.I.2008/2361.

"approved assessor" means a person approved by the Secretary of State for the purposes of assessing the competence of tenant management organisations under regulation 13(1);

"approved assessor service" means a person designated by the Secretary of State to appoint an approved assessor on the application of a tenant management organisation under regulation 13(1);

"area" in relation to a tenant management organisation, means the area specified in its constitution in accordance with regulation 4(1)(b);

"authority" means the local housing authority on which a proposal notice is served;

"commencement date" means the date on which these Regulations come into force;

"competence" means the competence of a tenant management organisation to exercise the management functions set out in the offer notice;

"house"(a) includes—

- (a) part of a house;
- (b) land let together with a house; and
- (c) land held for a purpose related to the house;

"management functions" has the same meaning as in section 27 of the Housing Act 1985;

"offer notice" means the offer notice prepared by the authority and TMO under regulation 14;

"proposal notice" means a notice which complies with regulation 9;

"support" means the provision or financing by an authority of office accommodation, facilities or training;

"tenant" means a person who holds a secure tenancy (within the meaning of section 79 of the Housing Act 1985), or other tenancy of a house from an authority;

"TMO" means a tenant management organisation; and

"TMO agreement" means an agreement required to be made between an authority and a tenant management organisation under regulation 16.

Definition and general duties of tenant management organisations

- **4.**—(1) A tenant management organisation is an organisation which satisfies the following conditions(**b**)
 - (a) it has a constitution in written form;
 - (b) its constitution specifies an area in relation to which it seeks to enter into a TMO agreement with an authority;
 - (c) its constitution provides that any tenant of a house in that area may become a member of the TMO;
 - (d) its constitution provides that, in conducting its affairs, the TMO must avoid any unlawful discrimination:
 - (e) its constitution provides that the affairs of the TMO must be conducted either—
 - (i) by the members of the TMO at a general meeting; or
 - (ii) by a committee or board of directors elected by members of the TMO.
 - (2) For the purposes of these Regulations, a TMO—
 - (a) is not disqualified from being a TMO if its constitution contains provision for matters other than those specified in paragraph (1); and
 - (b) does not cease to be a TMO if its constitution is at any time amended to contain such provision.

⁽a) "House" is defined for the purposes of Part 2 of the Housing Act 1985, in section 56 of that Act.

⁽b) See section 27AB(8) of the Housing Act 1985.

- (3) In exercising its functions under these Regulations, a TMO—
 - (a) must act in accordance with the provisions of its constitution relevant to the exercise of its functions under these Regulations; and
 - (b) must have regard to any guidance provided from time to time by the Secretary of State relevant to the exercise of its functions under these Regulations.

Agreement for extension of time

5. Where any person is required or authorised to exercise any function under these Regulations within a specified period, the TMO and the authority concerned may by agreement before the expiry of that period, extend the period for a further specified period.

Security of ballot

6. Any ballot held under these Regulations must be organised so that the vote cast by any individual is kept secret.

Written communications

7. Any requirement under these Regulations to make, prepare, provide or send a notification, request, referral, report, plan, offer or other communication, is a requirement to do so in writing.

Disputes between authorities and TMOs

- **8.**—(1) Where an authority and a TMO cannot resolve a dispute that has arisen between them concerning the application or interpretation of any provision of these Regulations or the TMO agreement, or a determination made under these Regulations, either party may refer the matter for determination to an arbitrator appointed by agreement between them or, in default of agreement, appointed by the Secretary of State.
- (2) In making the referral described in paragraph (1), the authority and the TMO must have regard to any guidance provided from time to time by the Secretary of State as to the procedure and conduct of the arbitration.

PART 2

INITIATING THE PROCESS STAGE

Proposal notices

- **9.**—(1) A notice is a proposal notice if it complies with paragraphs (2) and (4) and is served on an authority by a TMO.
 - (2) The notice must contain the following—
 - (a) a statement that the authority on which it is served should enter into a TMO agreement with the TMO serving the notice;
 - (b) a statement that the subject of the proposed TMO agreement is to be the management of houses within the TMO's area of which, at the time the notice is served, at least 25 are let under secure tenancies; and
 - (c) a statement that those houses to which the proposed TMO agreement relates are within the TMO's area.
- (3) The notice must be accompanied by evidence demonstrating that the requirements in regulation 10 have been complied with.
- (4) A proposal notice must not contain a proposal relating to houses already included in an existing management agreement between a TMO and an authority unless—

- (a) all of those houses are included in the proposal and the TMO which serves the notice is a party to that existing management agreement; or
- (b) the number of houses which are the subject of the existing agreement is greater than 2500.

Consultation and membership requirements relevant to proposal notices

10. A TMO must—

- (a) before serving a proposal notice on an authority, use its best endeavours to deliver a copy of the notice to every house which is identified in the proposal notice;
- (b) before serving a proposal notice be satisfied that—
 - (i) a majority of members of the TMO voted in favour of serving the notice at a ballot of all members; or
 - (ii) a majority of members of the TMO in attendance at a properly constituted general meeting voted in favour of a resolution to serve a notice;
- (c) at the time the notice is served, ensure that the membership of the TMO includes—
 - (i) at least 20% of the tenants; and
 - (ii) at least 20% of the secure tenants,
 - of the houses identified in the proposal notice.

Acceptance and refusal of proposal notices

- 11.—(1) Subject to paragraphs (4) and (5), an authority on which a proposal notice is served must accept it.
 - (2) An authority must notify the TMO within 28 days of receiving the proposal notice—
 - (a) whether it has accepted or refused the proposal notice; and
 - (b) where it has refused, the reasons for the refusal.
- (3) Where an authority accepts a proposal notice, it must at the time of notification under paragraph (2)—
 - (a) inform the TMO of any other management organisation or person which already exercises management functions in relation to the houses identified in the proposal notice; and
 - (b) provide a copy of the proposal notice to any other such management organisation or person.
- (4) An authority may refuse to accept a proposal notice if it contains a similar proposal to one contained in a previous proposal notice, and—
 - (a) at least half of the houses identified in the current proposal notice were also identified in the previous proposal notice; and
 - (b) within the two years preceding the date on which the current notice is received, the previous proposal notice was withdrawn voluntarily, by the TMO, or was deemed to be withdrawn as mentioned in—
 - (i) regulation 13(8) (competence of TMO);
 - (ii) regulation 15(4) (refusal of offer to tenants); or
 - (iii) regulation 17 (failure to register TMO).
- (5) An authority may refuse to accept a proposal notice if it has reasonable grounds for believing that the TMO which served the notice has failed to comply with the requirements of regulation 10(a) or (b), or that the requirements of regulation 10(c) have not been met.

Authority support following proposal notice

- 12.—(1) Where an authority has accepted a proposal notice, the TMO which served the notice may make a request to the authority for such support as is specified in the request, being support that is reasonably required for the purposes of pursuing the proposal notice.
 - (2) On receipt of a request under paragraph (1), the authority must—
 - (a) determine the support which it considers the TMO reasonably requires for the purposes of pursuing the proposal notice; and
 - (b) notify the TMO of the determination within 28 days of its receipt of the request.
- (3) Subject to paragraphs (7) and (8) the authority must provide support in accordance with the determination under paragraph (2)(a).
- (4) If a TMO is dissatisfied with an authority's determination under paragraph (2)(a) it may, within 28 days of being notified of the determination, refer the request to an arbitrator.
- (5) Where a TMO makes a referral under paragraph (4) it must at the same time give notice of that referral to the authority.
 - (6) Within 28 days of a referral under paragraph (4) the arbitrator must—
 - (a) determine the support which the arbitrator considers the TMO reasonably requires for the purposes of pursuing the proposal notice; and
 - (b) notify the authority and the TMO of the determination.
- (7) Where a determination has been notified under paragraph (6), the authority must provide support in accordance with that determination.
- (8) Paragraph (3) does not apply if the proposal notice is withdrawn voluntarily by the TMO, or is deemed to be withdrawn under these Regulations.

PART 3

DEVELOPMENT STAGE

Appointment of approved assessor to assess competence of TMO

- 13.—(1) Where an authority has accepted a proposal notice, the TMO must within 3 months of the acceptance date apply to the approved assessor service to appoint an approved assessor to report on the competence of the TMO to exercise the management functions set out in the proposal.
 - (2) The authority must arrange for the approved assessor to produce the report.
 - (3) The report described in paragraph (1) must—
 - (a) state whether or not the approved assessor concludes that the TMO is competent; and
 - (b) if the approved assessor concludes that the TMO is not competent, suggest the action the authority and the TMO should take to ensure that the TMO becomes competent.
- (4) The approved assessor must, within 15 months of the acceptance date, complete the report and provide it to the authority and the TMO.
 - (5) The authority and the TMO must—
 - (a) use all reasonable efforts to take the action suggested by the approved assessor in accordance with paragraph (3)(b); and
 - (b) jointly agree an action plan to enable them to do so.
 - (6) The authority must notify the approved assessor within 7 days of the action being completed.
- (7) The approved assessor must within 35 days of receipt of the authority's notification under paragraph (6) reassess whether or not the TMO is competent and notify the authority and the TMO of his conclusion.

- (8) The proposal notice is deemed to be withdrawn—
 - (a) if a TMO and authority fail to comply with the requirements of this regulation; or
 - (b) if the approved assessor concludes under paragraph (7) that the TMO is not competent.

Offer Notice

- **14.**—(1) Within 15 months of the acceptance date, the TMO and the authority must jointly prepare an offer notice.
 - (2) The offer notice must contain a statement describing—
 - (a) the management functions the TMO propose to exercise;
 - (b) the funding or budget to be allocated by the authority to enable the TMO to exercise those functions:
 - (c) the financial accountability and control procedures which the authority and the TMO will have in place; and
 - (d) the management and governance arrangements of the TMO.
- (3) In preparing the offer notice, the TMO and the authority must have regard to any guidance issued from time to time by the Secretary of State.

Offer to tenants

- 15.—(1) Where the approved assessor concludes under regulation 13 that the TMO is competent, the authority must within 3 months of receiving his conclusion, make to the tenants of each house identified in the proposal notice, an offer containing—
 - (a) the offer notice;
 - (b) the conclusion of the approved assessor; and
 - (c) information submitted by the TMO concerning the proposal.
- (2) The authority must arrange for a ballot to be carried out within 3 months of making the offer, with a view to establishing whether the tenants referred to in paragraph (1) wish to accept the offer.
- (3) The authority must within 14 days of carrying out the ballot notify the TMO of whether a majority of the tenants who voted and a majority of the secure tenants who voted—
 - (a) accepted the offer; or
 - (b) refused the offer.
 - (4) The proposal notice is deemed to be withdrawn where the offer is refused by—
 - (a) a majority of the tenants who voted in the ballot; or
 - (b) a majority of the secure tenants who voted in the ballot.

PART 4

IMPLEMENTATION STAGE

Duty to enter into TMO agreement

- **16.**—(1) Subject to regulation 17, where—
 - (a) a majority of the tenants who voted in the ballot under regulation 15(2), and
 - (b) a majority of the secure tenants who voted in that ballot,

have accepted the offer, the authority must within 9 months of the date of the authority's notification under regulation 15(3), enter into a TMO agreement with the TMO.

(2) That TMO agreement must take into account any guidance issued from time to time by the Secretary of State relating to TMO agreements.

Incorporation of TMO

- **17.** Unless within 9 months of the local authority's notification under regulation 15(3), the TMO is registered as—
 - (a) an Industrial and Provident Society under the Industrial and Provident Societies Act 1965(a); or
 - (b) a company under the Companies Act 2006(b);

the proposal notice is deemed to be withdrawn and the authority is not required to enter into a TMO agreement.

PART 5

OTHER PROVISIONS RELATING TO TMOS

Guidance by Secretary of State

18. Without prejudice to regulations 4(3)(b), 8(2), 14(3) and 16(2), any person exercising functions under these Regulations must have regard to any guidance given by the Secretary of State relevant to the exercise of those functions.

Break clause in other housing management agreements

- 19.—(1) This regulation applies to every agreement made under section 27(1) of the Housing Act 1985 between an authority and a manager(c) after the commencement date, where the agreement relates to—
 - (a) the same houses; and
 - (b) the same management functions in relation to those houses,

that are the subject of a subsequent TMO agreement.

- (2) An agreement to which this regulation applies must contain the terms to the effect that—
 - (a) that the authority must determine the agreement where it is required to enter into a TMO agreement; and
 - (b) that on the determination of the agreement, the authority and the manager must make arrangements for the transfer of the management functions from the manager to the TMO, if such arrangements are necessary.
- (3) An agreement to which this regulation applies that, when made, does not contain the terms specified in paragraph (2) and (5), shall be treated as if it had always contained those terms.
- (4) An authority must determine an agreement to which these regulations apply as soon as reasonably practicable after the date it is required to enter into a TMO agreement under regulation 16.
- (5) The authority and the manager must make arrangements in accordance with paragraph (2)(b) within 3 months of the determination of such an agreement.

⁽a) 1965 c.12.

⁽b) 2006 c.46.

⁽c) "Manager" is defined in section 27(2) of the Housing Act 1985, which was substituted by the Regulatory Reform (Housing Management Agreements) Order 2003 (S.I.2003/940).

Participation by authority in TMOs

20. Where an authority has, or proposes to enter into a TMO agreement with a TMO, it may, at the invitation of the TMO concerned, nominate one or more persons to be directors or other officers of the TMO.

Agreements entered into voluntarily

21. An authority may enter into a TMO agreement otherwise than in accordance with these Regulations where that agreement satisfies the requirements of section 27.

PART 6

TRANSITIONAL AND SAVING PROVISIONS

General transitional provision

22. Except as mentioned in this Part, any function exercised, step taken or requirement satisfied in accordance with a provision in the 2008 Regulations before the commencement date must be treated on and after that date as a function exercised, step taken or requirement satisfied in accordance with the equivalent provision, where there is such a provision, of these Regulations.

Proposal notices served under the 2008 Regulations

- 23.—(1) This regulation applies where before the commencement date—
 - (a) a TMO served a proposal notice pursuant to regulation 9 of the 2008 Regulations (referred to in the following provisions of this Part as a "regulation 9 notice"); and
 - (b) the authority on which the notice was served neither accepted nor declined to accept the proposal notice.
- (2) The authority may accept the regulation 9 notice on or after the commencement date and where it does so regulations 11(3) and 12 to 17 of these Regulations shall have effect as if the regulation 9 notice were a proposal notice within the meaning of these Regulations.
- (3) The authority may, in accordance with regulation 11(2), (4) and (5) of the 2008 Regulations, refuse the regulation 9 notice but the authority shall not be treated as having done so unless, within the period specified in regulation 11(2) of those Regulations, it gives notice to that effect, stating its reasons for declining to accept the proposal notice.

Local authority support following proposal notice

- **24.**—(1) Where, before the commencement date—
 - (a) a TMO requested support under paragraph (1) of regulation 12 of the 2008 Regulations; and
 - (b) the authority did not make the determination referred to in paragraph (2) of that regulation,

the request for support shall be treated as a request made under regulation 12 of these Regulations and regulations 13 to 20 of these Regulations shall have effect as if the regulation 9 notice were a proposal notice within the meaning of these Regulations.

- (2) Where—
 - (a) on or after the commencement date—
 - (i) the authority agrees to the TMO's request for support; or
 - (ii) an arbitrator notifies the authority and the TMO under paragraph (6) of regulation 12 of the 2008 Regulations of a determination made in relation to that request; and

- (b) the authority and the TMO have not commenced preparation of the feasibility study, the TMO may apply to the approved assessor service to appoint an approved assessor under regulation 13 of these Regulations and the authority and the TMO may prepare an offer in accordance with regulation 14 of these Regulations.
- (3) Regulations 13 to 20 of these Regulations shall apply in a case to which paragraph (2) applies as if the regulation 9 notice were a proposal notice accepted under regulation 11.

Subsequent procedure in relation to regulation 9 notices

- **25.**—(1) This regulation shall apply where, before the commencement date, the authority accepted a regulation 9 notice and agreed to provide support but did not enter into a management agreement under the 2008 Regulations.
- (2) Subject to paragraph (3), regulations 13 to 20 of the 2008 Regulations shall continue to have effect.
- (3) The 2008 Regulations cease to have effect at the end of the period of 3 years beginning with the date on which these Regulations come into force.
- (4) A regulation 9 notice is deemed to have been withdrawn where a management agreement under the 2008 Regulations has not been entered into by the date the 2008 Regulations cease to have effect under paragraph (3).

Signed by authority of the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government

10th July 2012

Grant Shapps
Minister of State
Department for Communities and Local Government

EXPLANATORY NOTE

(This note is not part of the Regulations)

These Regulations, which are made under sections 27 and 27AB of the Housing Act 1985, set out the procedure to be followed where a tenant management organisation ("TMO") proposes to enter into a management agreement with a local housing authority under section 27 of that Act. The Regulations impose an obligation on the authority in specified circumstances to enter into a management agreement, and contain related provisions.

These Regulations apply in relation to England only. They revoke the Housing (Right to Manage) Regulations 2008 ("the 2008 Regulations") in so far as they apply to houses and authorities in England.

The Regulations are divided into 6 parts.

Part 1 provides for:

- (a) conditions that the TMO must satisfy (regulation 4);
- (b) extension of time (regulation 5);
- (c) security of any ballot (regulation 6);
- (d) written communications under the regulations (regulation 7) and
- (e) resolution of disputes by arbitration (regulation 8).

Part 2 sets out the initiating the process stage and provides for:

(a) service and contents of the proposal notice (regulation 9);

- (b) consultation and membership requirements in respect of the proposal notice (regulation 10);
- (c) procedure and requirements for acceptance and refusal of proposal notices (regulation 11) and
- (d) requests for support from the local authority for the TMO in pursuing the proposal notice (regulation 12).

Part 3 sets out the development stage and provides for:

- (a) appointment of an approved assessor to assess the competence of the TMO (Regulation 13);
- (b) preparation of an offer notice setting out the management functions to be exercised by the TMO, the budget available and arrangements for financial accountability, governance and management of the TMO (regulation 14); and
- (c) ballots and offer to all tenants of TMO proposal (regulation 15).

Part 4 sets out the implementation stage and provides for:

- (a) the duty of the authority to enter into the agreement (regulation 16) and
- (b) the incorporation of the TMO (regulation 17).

Part 5 contains other provisions relating to TMOs:

- (a) guidance by the Secretary of State (regulation 18);
- (b) break clauses in other management agreements (regulation 19);
- (c) participation by the authority in the TMO (regulation 20); and
- (d) voluntary management agreements (regulation 21).

Part 6 provides for transitional and saving arrangements in respect of applications made under the 2008 Regulations.

Printed and published in the UK by The Stationery Office Limited under the authority and superintendence of Carol Tullo, Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office and Queen's Printer of Acts of Parliament.

[©] Crown copyright 2012

2012 No. 1821

HOUSING, ENGLAND

The Housing (Right to Manage) (England) Regulations 2012



£5.75